IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX
JUN 2 3 1999 1 19

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Case No.

94,170

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

TFB No.

98-10,972(13D)

Complainant,

VS.

KEITH F. ROBERTS,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

Monica Ann Frost Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813)875-9821 Florida Bar No. 980552

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent failed to comply with The Florida Bar's Continuing Legal Education Requirements (hereinafter CLER) and became CLER delinquent in November of 1997. Respondent received a letter from The Bar in December of 1997 which notified Respondent of his delinquent status and advised him that pursuant to Rule 1-3.4(a) a delinquent member should not engage in the practice of law. (TFB Exh. 2). The letter further advised Respondent of the action required to correct his CLER delinquency. Respondent received another letter from The Bar in January of 1998 which advised him that he had been suspended from the practice of law for his failure to comply with the CLER requirements. (TFB Exh. 4). Respondent failed to notify his clients of his suspended status and continued to practice law. In fact, Respondent did not submit his Petition for Reinstatement to The Bar until July 13, 1998. (TFB Exh. 8).

On July 14, 1998, Respondent testified under oath at a Grievance Committee hearing and asserted that he was an active member in good standing of The Florida Bar. Respondent misrepresented his membership status to the Grievance Committee despite his knowledge that The Bar considered Respondent suspended.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Thirteenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "D" found probable cause on July 14, 1998, for violation of Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, Rules 1-3.4(a) (Any member who is suspended by reason of failure to complete continuing legal education requirement shall be deemed a delinquent member. A delinquent member shall not engage in the practice of law in this state and shall not be entitled to any privileges and benefits accorded to members of The Florida Bar in good standing); Rule 1-3.6 (Any person now or hereafter licensed to practice law in Florida who fails to comply with continuing legal education shall be deemed a delinquent member. While occupying the status of a delinquent member, no person shall engage in the practice of law in Florida nor be entitled to any privileges and benefits accorded to members of The Florida Bar in good standing); and Rule 4-5.5(a) (A lawyer shall not practice law in a jurisdiction where doing so violates the regulation of the legal profession in that jurisdiction). On August 11, 1998, The Thirteenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "D" found probable cause for the violation of Rule 4-8.4(c)(A lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation). On October 22, 1998, The Florida Bar filed a Complaint in this matter. By order dated October 28, 1998, Judge Mark I. Shames was appointed Referee.

A final hearing in this matter was held on March 26, 1999, On March 29, 1999, the Referee issued a Preliminary Report of Referee and found the Respondent guilty of violating the following Rules Regulating The Florida Bar: Rule 6-10.4 (Reporting Requirements); Rule 1-3.6 (Delinquent Members); Rule 1-3.4 (CLER Delinquent Members); Rule 4-8.4(c)(Conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation). A sanctions hearing was held on April 9, 1999. On April 16, 1999, the Referee issued a Final Report of Referee recommending that the Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for ninety (90) days and assessed costs against Respondent. (RR p. 4.).

In making his recommendation for discipline, the Referee considered Respondent's prior disciplinary record as an aggravating factor. This Court previously imposed a ninety (90) day suspension and three years probation on Respondent in an unrelated matter. The Florida Bar v. Roberts, 689 So.2d 1049 (Fla. 1997). Additional aggravating factors considered by the Referee included the fact that he admittedly delayed full compliance with the reinstatement requirement due to concerns about the consequences, and his misrepresentation to the Grievance Committee concerning his standing to practice law. (RR p. 4.). In mitigation, the Referee considered that Respondent's conduct caused no actual harm while accepting

that Respondent's conduct created a potential for harm as well as prejudice to the administration of the legal system.

The Referee's report was considered by the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar at its meeting which ended May 2 1, 1999, at which time the Board voted to file a petition for review of the Referee's report and seek a ninety-one (91) day suspension. The Florida Bar filed its Petition for Review of Referee's Report with this Court on or about June 4, 1999.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Referee's recommended discipline of a ninety (90) day suspension will not serve to protect the public or the legal system, is not sufficient punishment for the breach of ethics committed, nor will it serve to deter Respondent or other attorneys from engaging in similar misconduct in the future. Respondent continued to practice law while under suspension and made misrepresentations to a Bar grievance committee regarding his membership status, Respondent was previously suspended for ninety (90) days in an unrelated matter. This Court should now suspend Respondent for ninety-one days based on the serious nature of Respondent's misconduct, The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and relevant case law. A ninety-one (91) day suspension in this case is fair to society, fair to Respondent and severe enough to deter Respondent and other attorneys from engaging in similar misconduct.

ARGUMENT

I. A NINETY-ONE (91) DAY SUSPENSION IS THE **APPROPRIATE** SANCTION FOR PRACTICING LAW WHILE UNDER SUSPENSION FOR CLER **DELINQUENCY** AND **MISREPRESENTING** MEMBERSHIP STATUS TO A GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE **DURING** DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS BASED ON THE RECORD, CASE AND STANDARDS FOR LAWYER LAW. SANCTIONS.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Lord</u>, 433 **So.2d** 983 (Fla. 1983), this Court defined the objectives of Bar discipline as follows:

Discipline for unethical conduct by a member of The Florida Bar must serve three purposes: First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing a penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations. (Court's emphasis)

(<u>Id</u>. at 986.). The referee's recommended discipline does not satisfy these three purposes.

The Florida Bar submits that the Referee's recommended discipline of a ninety (90) day suspension will not serve to protect the public or the legal system, is not sufficient punishment for the breach of ethics committed, nor will it serve to deter Respondent or other attorneys from engaging in similar misconduct in the future. This Court should suspend Respondent for ninety-one (91) days based on the serious nature of Respondent's misconduct, The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and relevant case law. A ninety-one (91) day suspension in this case is fair to society, fair to Respondent and severe enough to deter Respondent and other attorneys from engaging in similar misconduct.

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions provide a format for bar counsel, referees, and the Supreme Court to determine the appropriate sanction in attorney disciplinary matters. Standard 7.2 provides that suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the public or the legal system. Standard 7.0 provides that absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances the sanction provided in Standard 7.2 is generally appropriate in cases involving false or misleading communication about the lawyer or the lawyer's services, or unlicensed practice of law.

Standard 9.22 provides a list of aggravating factors that may justify an increase in the degree of discipline to be imposed. Aggravating factors which apply in the instant case include:

- (a) prior disciplinary offenses;
- (f) submission of false evidence, false statements, or other deceptive practices during the disciplinary process; and
- (i) substantial experience in the practice of law.

Respondent was previously suspended for ninety (90) days followed by three years probation in The Florida Bar v. Roberts, 689 So.2d 1049 (Fla. 1997). However, this previous suspension and probation did not prevent Respondent from intentionally violating The Bar's Rules within months of his previous suspension. For this offense he should receive a more severe sanction. Cumulative misconduct is a relevant factor when determining the appropriate sanction in a disciplinary matter. Cumulative misconduct should be dealt with more harshly than isolated misconduct. The Florida Bar v. Wilson, 714 So.2d 38 1, 384 (Fla. 1998); The Florida Bar v. Nesmith, 707 So.2d 33 1,333 (Fla. 1998); The Florida Bar v. Rolle, 661 So.2d 296 (Fla. 1995); and The Florida Bar v. Laing, 695 So.2d 299,304 (Fla. 1997).

In The Florida Bar v. Bern, 425 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1982), this Court stated that

[i]n rendering discipline, this Court considers the respondent's previous disciplinary history and increases the discipline where appropriate. The Court deals more

harshly with cumulative misconduct than it does with isolated misconduct.

(<u>Id</u>. at 528.)(citations omitted).

In addition to Respondent's prior disciplinary record, aggravating factors include Respondent's intentional delayed compliance with the Bar's reinstatement requirements and his misrepresentation of his membership status while testifying before a Bar Grievance Committee. In further aggravation, Respondent has substantial experience in the practice of law having been admitted to The Florida Bar in 1977, more than twenty years ago.

In The Florida Bar v. Wasserman, 654 So.2d 905 (Fla. 1995), Wasserman received a sixty (60) day suspension for continuing to practice law after receiving notice from the bar that he had been suspended for failure to pay outstanding disciplinary costs. Wasserman testified that he did not notify his clients or judges of his suspension because he did not think his suspension was legal. (Wasserman at 906.). In finding Wasserman guilty of Rule 4-8.4(c), the referee found that "a lawyer misrepresents himself, if only by silence, if he continues to practice after he is notified of his suspension, takes no formal steps to challenge a position he believes to be without legal authority, and continues to hold himself out as a member of the Bar in good standing." (Wasserman at 906.). Factors considered in mitigation in

<u>Wasserman</u> included severe financial difficulties and the fact that Wasserman met his obligations to The Bar within sixty-eight (68) days of his suspension. Factors considered in aggravation included Wasserman's prior discipline consisting of two public reprimands and an admonishment. (<u>Wasserman</u> at 906.).

In the instant case, Respondent not only misrepresented his membership status through silence but through misleading testimony before the Grievance Committee. Unlike Wasserman, who met his obligations with The Bar within sixty-eight (68) days of notification of suspension, Respondent did not petition for reinstatement until the day before the Grievance Committee hearing, seven (7) months after receiving notice of his suspended status. Instead, Respondent intentionally and deliberately chose to continue practicing when he knew The Bar considered him suspended. Unlike Wasserman, Respondent's prior discipline consisting of a ninety (90) day suspension is more severe than Wasserman's previous disciplinary history. Due to the aggravating factors present in the instant case, Respondent should receive a ninety-one (9 1) day suspension.

In <u>Levkoffida Bar v.</u>, 5 11 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1987), Levkoff submitted a guilty plea for a consent judgment and agreed to a ninety (90) day suspension for practicing law for seven (7) months while under suspension for non-payment of dues.

The referee recommended that Levkoff s suspension run concurrently with his

suspension for non-payment of dues. This Court disagreed with the referee's recommendation that the suspension run concurrently and was of the opinion that "such a suspension has no real meaning." (Levkoff at 556.). Instead, this Court ordered Levkoff to submit to a ninety (90) day suspension to commence upon his reinstatement to The Florida Bar after having completed all applicable requirements for reinstatement after a dues delinquency. (Levkoff at 556.).

Like Levkoff, Respondent continued to practice law for seven months after receiving the Bar's notice of suspension. In addition to being found guilty of practicing while suspended, Respondent was found guilty of making misrepresentations while testifying before the Grievance Committee. By itself, Respondent's untruthful testimony before a Grievance Committee would warrant a suspension. The Florida Bar v. Lund, 410 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1982). See also The Florida Bar v. Langford, 126 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1961). Unlike Levkoff, Respondent's prior disciplinary history included a ninety (90) suspension. Due to the aggravating factors and the additional Rule violation involved in the instant case, Respondent should receive a ninety-one (91) day suspension.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Beach</u>, 675 **So.2d** 106 (Fla. 1996), Beach received a ninety (90) day suspension for assisting in the unlicensed practice of law and sharing a legal fee with a non-attorney. The referee considered that Beach had a prior

disciplinary record which consisted of a twenty-eight (28) day suspension. (Beach at 108.). In approving the referee's recommendation of discipline, this Court noted that there was no evidence in the record that Beach's violation of the Rules was willful or deliberate.

In the instant case, Respondent's choice to practice law while suspended was willful and deliberate. It was also Respondent's choice to misrepresent his membership status to the Grievance Committee. Respondent's prior discipline of a ninety (90) day suspension is more severe than the prior discipline considered in **Bharls** fore, Respondent should receive a ninety-one (91) day suspension rather than the ninety (90) day suspension imposed in **Beach**.

In The Florida Bar v. Weil, 575 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1991), Weil was suspended for six (6) months for practicing law while suspended for non-payment of dues. Weil was delinquent in his payment of Bar dues for the periods of July 1988 through July 1989 and July 1989 through July 1990. As a result, Weil became a delinquent member and was suspended as of October 1, 1988. Weil was notified by the Bar of his delinquent status and that he was prohibited from practicing law. However, he continued to practice law as a city attorney during the period he was suspended for non-payment of dues, (Weil at 2003) to respond to The Bar's request for admissions and failed to appear during disciplinary proceedings. (Weil at 2003).

The referee in Weil found that Respondent's failure to appear during disciplinary proceedings and his failure to even apply for reinstatement demonstrated a lack of regard for professional regulations and a willful indifference to the disciplinary system. Weil also had a prior disciplinary record consisting of two public reprimands. The referee recommended disbarment, however this Court rejected the referee's recommendation and imposed a six (6) month suspension. (Weil at 204.).

Respondent's actions in the instant case also demonstrate a certain lack of regard for professional regulations and the disciplinary system. First, Respondent failed to comply with CLER requirements. Then, after he became suspended for CLER delinquency he delayed filing a petition for reinstatement until the day before the Grievance Committee hearing regarding this matter. Respondent then proceeded to misrepresent his membership status to the Grievance Committee. While Respondent's misconduct is not as egregious as that of Weil, his prior discipline of a ninety (90) day suspension is more severe than that of Weil. Therefore, Respondent should receive a ninety-one (91) day suspension.

CONCLUSION

Pursuant to the foregoing facts and evidence, the applicable Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, and the pertinent case law, Respondent should be suspended from the practice of law in Florida for ninety-one (91) days and should be assessed The Florida Bar's costs in these disciplinary proceedings.