IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR

Complaintant,

Case No. 94,170 TFB No. 98-10,972(13D)

vs.

KEITH F. ROBERTS,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF AND INITIAL BRIEF ON CROSS-PETITION

Keith F. Roberts, Esq. 1902 So. MacDill Avenue Tampa, Florida 33629 (813) 253-2626 Florida Bar No. 0234958 <u>Pro Se</u>

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The actual documents and events recited in the Statement of Facts contained in the Initial Brief of The Florida Bar ("the Bar") are not disputed. However, Respondent does dispute the Bar's characterization of those documents and events in certain respects that are material to his position throughout these proceedings and to the Court's consideration of appropriate sanction, as follows:

Respondent failed to comply with the Bar's continuing legal education (CLE) <u>reporting</u> requirement. It is not disputed that he fulfilled the substantive education requirement by timely completion of the required credit hours (TFB Ex. 6, 7, 8; GC p.23).

At the time Respondent's CLE reporting affidavit was due, the Bar's records failed to reflect credit for a certain seminar attended by Respondent. (See TFB Ex. 8, GC p.26). Respondent therefore delayed mailing the affidavit, believing it necessary to first find among his own records some evidence of attendance at that seminar (See TFB Ex. 8), and that delay triggered the referenced correspondence from the Bar (TFB Ex. 2, 4).

Besides this uncertainty, the Bar correspondence on this matter was itself confusing. An initial letter to Respondent accompanied an unrelated complaint correspondence to the Bar from a citizen (GC, Ex. I) as to which the Grievance Committee later found no probable cause (GC p.29). Subsequent correspondence to Respondent on January 14 (TFB Ex. 4) and February 9, 1998 (TFB Ex. 5) continued to reference this citizen complaint and the Bar's case number associated with that complaint. Further, the January 14, 1998 correspondence (TFB Ex. 4) incorrectly identified "failure to pay your Florida Bar dues" as an additional reason for Respondent's purported suspension. Respondent thereafter sought to and did clarify his response obligation, but the matter soon thereafter was referred to the Grievance Committee (See TFB Ex. 6; GC pp. 16 - 17, 21 - 22).

Respondent's position concerning his purported CLE delinquency was described in correspondence to the Bar (TFB Ex. 6m 8), his Petition for Removal of CLER Delinquency (TFB Ex. 7), testimony before the Grievance Committee (GC pp.15 -16, 20-21, 27-28) and before the Referee, and is discussed <u>infra</u>. Respondent's statement to the Grievance Committee concerning his Bar status (GC p.5) was made in that context.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A. <u>On The Florida Bar's Petition for Review</u>

Respondent does not here challenge the findings in the Report of Referee herein concerning Respondent's unauthorized practice of law stemming from his failure to observe the Bar's assignment of delinquent status. This is so despite Respondent's good-faith contention in these proceedings that, as discussed <u>infra</u>, he did not violate the substantive CLE credit requirement.

Respondent also does not challenge the Referee's recommended sanction of suspension, though Respondent does challenge the recommended 90 days as excessive <u>especially</u> to the extent it is based on the finding of misrepresentation that Respondent has challenged by his Cross-Petition for Review and that is discussed <u>infra</u>. Respondent maintains however, that whether or not this Court agrees that Respondent made a material misrepresentation, the Bar's quest for a 91-day suspension under the facts and circumstances presented here is harsh and excessive.

B. <u>On Respondent's Cross-Petition for Review</u>

Respondent earnestly contends that his statement to the Grievance Committee (GC p.5) that his Florida Bar membership at that time was "active" and "in good

standing" cannot properly be viewed as a misrepresentation because the context of his correspondences and other testimony which were before the Committee make it clear that (1) this was a statement of Respondent's good-faith belief concerning his status based on the legal and logical position he adopted concerning his purported "delinquency" that Respondent elsewhere described, and (2) the Committee, having all the relevant surrounding facts before it (as Respondent knew) could not possibly have been misled.

ARGUMENT

A. <u>The Facts Distinguish This From Other Unauthorized Practice Cases</u>

Reduced to its essentials, the core charge against Respondent here is that he failed to timely file his CLE reporting affidavit. In so characterizing his offense, Respondent does not seek to trivialize this matter or his responsibility to the system of Bar discipline; indeed, Respondent specifically <u>does not</u> here challenge (except with respect to the misrepresentation charge, discussed in B, <u>infra</u>) the referee's findings or conclusions.¹ But in judging what sanction is just, it is surely crucial to consider Respondent's misdeeds in the context suggested by the particulars of this case.

In this regard Respondent would point out the following:

(1) No client was harmed (RR, p.4)

1

"Bar discipline exists primarily to protect the public from misconduct that occurs in the course of an attorney's representation of a client."

The Florida Bar v. Helinger, 620 So.2d 993, 995 (Fla. 1993)

- (2) Moreover, the "potential harm" noted but not specified by the referee (RR
 - p.4), under the circumstances presented here (further discussed below),

It is perhaps impossible to argue that one's offense is of limited consequence without thereby appearing to deny or ignore one's responsibility in the matter. Respondent hopes that the Court will not perceive his <u>pro se</u> advocacy here as repudiation of responsibility to the system of lawyer regulation, which Respondent does in fact fully acknowledge and appreciate.

could arise not from client affairs <u>per se</u> but only as a consequence of the lawyer-regulation system itself.

- (3) Respondent had fully and timely complied with CLE course requirements. Among other things, this fact obviates the "potential harm" [to clients and the public] that such course requirements, and lawyer discipline concerning them, are meant to ensure against.
- (4) In view of the premise of correspondence from the Bar (TFB Ex. 2, 4, 5) that the recipient had not fulfilled CLE course requirements (which, as discussed above, was wrong in Respondent's case); considering the content of the form Petition for Removal of CLER Delinquency (See TFB Ex. 7) supplied by the Bar and the implications of submitting it (see discussion below of Respondent's understanding of his status); and because of the initial, collateral confusions noted in Statement of Facts, Respondent's concern and reluctance about submitting a Petition for Removal of CLER Delinquency was not unreasonable, or at least should not be viewed as egregious.
- (5) Respondent, upon review of Rules 1-3.4(a) and 1-3.6, which are those cited by the Bar and the Grievance Committee throughout these proceedings, concluded in good faith that a delinquency arises, and

suspension from practice is proper, where an attorney "fails to complete [CLE] requirements" and "fails to comply with [CLE] ... course requirements," and that these provisions properly referred to an attorney's failure to fulfill the substantive CLE course and credits obligation and not merely to a failure to timely file his affidavit.

- (6) Respondent's purported suspension from practice by reason of his supposed delinquency was of course administrative in nature, rather than, for example, pursuant to order of this Court. Thus, at the very least, Respondent's belief that the matter should be subject to challenge, that the Bar administration's <u>pro forma</u> response to the absence of a CLE reporting affidavit from Respondent should not be the final word, was not patently unreasonable. Respondent in fact believed, not unreasonably, that his purported delinquency could be cured, and his "suspension" negated, retroactively, once the fact of his compliance with substantive CLE course requirements was duly reported to the Bar.²
- (7) In his view of these considerations it is plain that while Respondent's decision that he was entitled to continue practicing was deliberate, and

2

The concepts of retroactive validation and of ratification are well known to the law.

apparently wrong, that decision in no way represented a wilful ignoring or violation of the Bar or its rules.

The system of lawyer regulation is of undoubted public benefit. Nevertheless, where no really tangible harm has occurred, it is important to bear in mind that what is truly put at issue by the Bar in this sort of case is the inviolability of its administrative prerogatives. The Bar told Respondent he was suspended for CLE non-compliance and, though its premise (that Respondent had failed to complete his course requirements) was wrong, he must submit to the Bar administration's edict as the final word. Again, it is not necessary to discount the importance of lawyer regulation or of each attorney's obligation to the system established for it - and Respondent emphatically does not do so - in order to urge, as Respondent does, an appropriate perspective in the exercise by this Court of its oversight and sanction authority in Respondent's case.

B. <u>Respondent Was Not Properly found Guilty of Misrepresentation</u>

The Grievance Committee, in documents that, to Respondent's knowledge, have not been made a part of this record, at some point investigated a possible misrepresentation by Respondent contained in a correspondence from Respondent to a member of the Committee. Respondent never was notified that the Committee intended to investigate any other alleged misrepresentation and was unaware if it did so. The Bar's Complaint herein, at Paragraph 10, alleges the referenced misrepresentation but no other. The referee found that respondent was not guilty of this alleged misrepresentation and the Bar has not challenged this finding and conclusion by the referee either in its Petition For Review or its Brief.

The referee did find Respondent guilty of misrepresenting to the Grievance Committee that his Florida Bar status at the time - June 14, 1998 - was "active" and "in good standing." As Respondent alleged in a Motion for Reconsideration of this conclusion addressed to the referee, this alleged misrepresentation is not set forth as such in the Bar's complaint and was mentioned for the first time, to Respondent's knowledge, in the Bar's oral argument to the referee. Paragraph 6 of the Bar's Complaint references the statement by Respondent to the Grievance Committee, but does so in another context, and it is nowhere characterized as a misrepresentation or otherwise challenged in the Complaint. Thus, the conclusion by the referee that this statement constituted a "misrepresentation" by Respondent should be rejected by the Court as not being part of the allegations properly brought before the referee or this Court.

Beyond this defect, the statement is not a misrepresentation at all, for two compelling reasons. First, in the context of Respondent's position that he was not truly "delinquent" because the CLE course requirements has been fulfilled - a position he has urged at every point throughout the investigation and prosecution of this matter, including in correspondence (TFB Ex. 6, 8), in his Petition to remove delinquency (TFB Ex. 7) his Answer to the Bar's Complaint, and his testimony before the Committee the statement can only be viewed as an expression of that (legal) position. One in Respondent's situation must not be disabled from staking a legal position, just because neither the Bar nor the Grievance Committee agrees with it.

Second, the Committee was, on July 14, 1998, possessed of all the facts and documents affecting Respondent's Florida Bar status and the Bar's position concerning Moreover, Respondent knew full well that the Committee had this that status. information. The query regarding his status thus could not have been interpreted by Respondent as a request for information, and indeed, it could not possibly have been so intended by the Committee. Rather, it can only be viewed in the way Respondent apprehended it: as an inquiry about Respondent's view of and position concerning his Bar status and the basis therefor. When posing this question, the Committee was in no posture to be misled by Respondent's answer concerning the relevant facts, and Respondent knew that. Under such circumstances there can be no misrepresentation, certainly no material misrepresentation, and even more certainly no misrepresentation of the sort that, under the principle of ejuisdem generis, belongs in the litany of misconduct described in Rule 4-8.4(g), which proscribes as well "dishonesty, fraud,

[and] deceit." Cf. <u>The Florida Bar v. Corbin</u>, 701 So.2d 334 (Fla. 1998); <u>The Florida</u> <u>Bar v. Kravitz</u>, 694 So.2d 725 (Fla. 1997); <u>The Florida Bar v. Glick</u>, 693 So.2d 550 (Fla. 1997); <u>The Florida Bar v. Tobin</u>, 674 So.2d 127 (Fla. 1996).

C. <u>The Sanction Sought by the Bar is Unwarranted</u>

In urging a more severe sanction even than that recommended by the referee, the Bar places great emphasis on Respondent's "misrepresentation" to the Grievance Committee concerning his Bar status. As described in B above, no misrepresentation of fact occurred, and certainly none was relied upon in any way by the Committee or anyone else. Even if a misrepresentation is found by the Court to have occurred, however, surely the circumstances of it do not justify an augmented sanction.

The other principal reason why the Bar appears to be seeking a harsher sanction here is Respondent's disciplinary history, specifically, a previously imposed 90-day suspension. Of course, "[t]he existence of a prior disciplinary record is not dispositive." <u>The Florida Bar v. Corbin</u>, 701 So. 2d 334, 337 n.1. Indeed, the cited footnote is a collection of cases where lesser discipline has been imposed for an attorney's false statement to a court, which ought to be seen as a more serious affront to the public and to the administration of justice than the alleged misstatement here. In <u>Corbin</u> the Court imposed a 90-day suspension for misrepresentation to the Bar plus the filing of a false affidavit, by an attorney with three prior disciplinary offenses.

Moreover, Respondent's prior discipline resulted from misconduct of an entirely different nature, and therefore should not be viewed as cumulative, at least not in the same way. See <u>The Florida Bar v. Grigsby</u>, 641 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1994).

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Kravitz</u>, 694 So.2d 725, <u>supra</u>, the Court imposed a 30day suspension for misrepresentations to opposing counsel and to the court, including presentation of false evidence. <u>The Florida Bar v. Tobin</u>, 674 So. 2d 127, <u>supra</u>, involved failure to advise the court of material facts in an <u>ex parte</u> proceeding , failing to comply with a court order, and other misconduct connected with a court proceeding. A 45-day suspension was ordered.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Jordan</u>, 682 So.2d 547 (Fla. 1996), client neglect, with a history of the same, plus failure to respond in Bar proceedings, were found to merit a 30-day suspension.

Even those cases cited by the Bar which appear most pertinent here do not support the harsh sanction it urges. <u>The Florida Bar v. Wasserman</u>, 654 So.2d 905 (Fla.1995) resulted in a 60-day suspension, and <u>The Florida Bar v. Lenkoff</u>, 511 So.2d 556 (Fla. 1987) yielded a 90-day suspension.

Consideration of the circumstances cited by Respondent and appearing in the record in light of pertinent disciplinary precedents of this Court make it clear that the Bar's requested 91-day suspension is excessive.

CONCLUSION

Respondent was not unreasonable in failing to apprehend that a pronouncement by the Bar administration concerning an attorney's status, though issued <u>pro forma</u> and based on an incorrect premise, is to be regarded as inviolable and not subject to retroactive correction. There plainly was here no willful disregard of Respondents's obligation. There also was no resulting harm.

The misrepresentation alleged here, moreover, could have been neither intended by Respondent nor understood by the Grievance Committee as a statement of material fact, but on the contrary could only have been taken as part and parcel of Respondent's explication of his position regarding his Bar status. The Committee, knowing the surrounding facts, would not have been misled.

Under the circumstances and applicable precedent, the Bar's quest for a 91-day suspension is unwarranted; indeed, particularly in view of the facts surrounding the misrepresentation allegation the Court should carefully consider whether the referee's recommended 90-day suspension is itself unduly harsh.

<u>CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE</u>

I HEREBY CERTIFY that an original and seven (7) copies of the Respondent's Answer Brief and Initial Brief on Cross-Petition has been furnished by United Parcel Service overnight mail to Debbie Causseaux, Acting Clerk, the Supreme Court of Florida, Supreme Court Building, 500 South Duval Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1927; and a true and correct copy by regular U.S. Mail to John Anthony Boggs, Esq., Staff Counsel, The Florida Bar, 650 Apalachee parkway, Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 and a true and correct copy of the foregoing was hand delivered to Monica Frost, Counsel for The Florida Bar, Tampa Airport Marriott Hotel, Suite C-49, Tampa, FL 33607 on this <u>20th</u> day of August, 1999.

Keith F. Roberts, Esquire 1902 South MacDill Avenue Tampa, Florida 33629 (813) 253-2626 FL. Bar No. 234958

<u>CERTIFICATION OF FONT SIZE AND STYLE</u>

I HEREBY CERTIFY that this brief has been written in font size Times New roman 14 pt.